2018

## **Benjamin Arriaga, Petitioner and Appellant, v. State of Utah, Respondent and Appellee : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Supreme Court

## **Introduction**

Benjamin Arriaga pleaded guilty to first-degree murder while vocally maintaining during the plea colloquy—in his native Spanish tongue—that he acted in self-defense.

Mr. Arriaga is a native of Mexico, speaks Spanish, and has a fifth-grade education. In 2010, Mr. Arriaga shot Benacio Herrera after the two struggled over a gun. The State charged Mr. Arriaga with first-degree murder and two second-degree felonies. The State and Mr. Arriaga's trial counsel negotiated a plea deal where Mr. Arriaga would plead guilty only to the first-degree murder charge.

Prior to the plea hearing, trial counsel met with Mr. Arriaga privately about the plea deal. But English-speaking trial counsel did not speak Spanish, and Spanish-speaking Mr. Arriaga did not speak English except for a few random words. Mr. Arriaga left that meeting believing he had to plead guilty.

During the plea colloquy, Mr. Arriaga twice asserted that he acted in self-defense. Neither the district court nor trial counsel explained to Mr. Arriaga the impact of his self-defense claim on his first-degree murder plea. Rather, the plea colloquy soldiered onward, and the district court accepted Mr. Arriaga's guilty plea to murder.

After his sentencing, Mr. Arriaga petitioned for postconviction relief. He asserted that his plea was not knowing or voluntary, and he argued that trial counsel was ineffective for not having an interpreter present in the meeting



before the plea hearing. The State moved for summary judgment on Mr. Arriaga's petition, and the district court granted that motion.

Mr. Arriaga then appealed to the Utah Court of Appeals, making the same arguments. The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the district court. This Court then granted certiorari on the question of whether the Utah Court of Appeals improperly affirmed the dismissal of Mr. Arriaga's postconviction relief petition.

### **Issue Presented**

**Issue:** Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the district court's denial of Mr. Arriaga's petition for postconviction relief, when (1) the court held that Mr. Arriaga's plea to first-degree murder was knowing and voluntary despite Mr. Arriaga's self-defense assertions during the plea colloquy and (2) Mr. Arriaga's English-speaking trial counsel did not have a Spanish-speaking interpreter during their meeting to explain the plea?

**Standard of review:** The district court dismissed Mr. Arriaga's postconviction petition on summary judgment. In reviewing that ruling, the Court of Appeals "viewed the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and reviewed the court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness." *Judge v. Saltz Plastic Surgery, P.C.*, 2016 UT 7, ¶ 11, 367 P.3d 1006 (quotation omitted and cleaned up).

“A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law that [an appellate court] review[s] for correctness.” *State v. Ring*, 2018 UT 19, ¶ 18, 424 P.3d 845 (quotation omitted and cleaned up).

“On a writ of certiorari, [the Supreme Court] review[s] the decision of the Court of Appeals . . . and appl[ies] the same standard of review used by the Court of Appeals. [The Supreme Court] conduct[s] that review for correctness, ceding no deference to the Court of Appeals.” *State v. Wilder*, 2018 UT 17, ¶ 15, 420 P.3d 1064 (cleaned up).

**Preservation:** Mr. Arriaga argued in the district court and in the Court of Appeals that his plea was not knowing and voluntary and that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to have an interpreter present at their meeting. (R. 1108–12, 1117–18, 1323–41.)

## Statement of the Case

### 1. Mr. Arriaga Shoots Mr. Herrera During a Struggle<sup>1</sup>

In 2010, Mr. Arriaga became distraught and angry after discovering that Benacio Herrera had an affair with his wife. (R. 105, 166, 176, 213–14.)<sup>2</sup> Mr. Arriaga confronted Mr. Herrera about the affair. (R. 167, 228.) The two exchanged punches. (R. 167.) Then Mr. Arriaga pulled a gun out of his waistband, intending to scare Mr. Herrera but not shoot. (R. 228.) Mr. Herrera asked Mr. Arriaga to forgive him, and Mr. Arriaga said that “this kind of thing is not forgiven.” (R. 694.) Mr. Herrera lunged at Mr. Arriaga and tried to grab the gun. (R. 167, 228.) The gun went off, and Mr. Herrera was shot five times—twice in front, twice in the back, and once in the back of his head. (R. 141.)

### 2. Mr. Arriaga Meets with Trial Counsel about a Plea

The State charged Mr. Arriaga with first-degree murder and two other second-degree felonies. (R. 61, 77.)

The district court found Mr. Arriaga indigent and appointed him counsel. (Add. D, Docket in *State v. Arriaga*, No. 101400853, at 3.) Trial counsel litigated

---

<sup>1</sup> Because the district court dismissed Mr. Arriaga’s petition on summary judgment after a partial evidentiary hearing, the facts below are recited in the light most favorable to Mr. Arriaga. *See Judge*, 2016 UT 7, ¶ 11. The evidentiary hearing in this case was not completed (and consequently did not include testimony about the issues raised in this appeal), so the facts are drawn from Mr. Arriaga’s postconviction petition, evidence submitted with the parties’ filings, and relevant material from the evidentiary hearing.

<sup>2</sup> Although they were still married, Mr. Arriaga was separated from his wife at the time the affair occurred. (R. 200.)

a preliminary hearing and a failed motion to suppress. (Add. D at 7, 14.) In an April 2011 hearing, trial counsel informed the court that the matter would be resolved by Mr. Arriaga pleading guilty to first-degree murder. (R. 410.)

Immediately prior to that hearing, Mr. Arriaga met with trial counsel. (Add. C, R. 1178.)

Mr. Arriaga is a native of Mexico, speaks Spanish, and has a fifth-grade education. (R. 1339–40.) At the time of the shooting, Mr. Arriaga did not speak English except for a few random words. (Add. C, R. 1177.) English-speaking trial counsel did not speak Spanish. (*Id.*)

Even though trial counsel and Mr. Arriaga had a language barrier, trial counsel did not have a Spanish-speaking interpreter present during their meeting. (Add. C, R. 1177–78.) Because no interpreter was present at that meeting, Mr. Arriaga believed trial counsel told him he had already been found guilty and that he had to plead guilty that day. (Add. C, R. 1177.) Mr. Arriaga did not understand that he did not have to plead guilty and that he was innocent until proven guilty. (Add. C, R. 1178.) Had Mr. Arriaga known that he did not have to plead guilty, he would not have pleaded guilty and would instead have insisted on going to trial. (Add. C, R. 1179.)

### **3. Mr. Arriaga Pleads Guilty to First-Degree Murder Maintaining Self-Defense**

After meeting with trial counsel, Mr. Arriaga walked into the hearing. When he walked into the hearing, he was given a plea affidavit that was written in

Spanish, but he did not read it prior to signing it. (Add. C, R. 1178.) And during the hearing, Mr. Arriaga was operating under what he understood from trial counsel—that he had to plead guilty that day. (*Id.*)

At the plea hearing, an interpreter translated for Mr. Arriaga. (R. 78.) The district court informed Mr. Arriaga of his rights and then asked for a factual basis:

THE COURT: Okay. Counsel, can you give me a factual basis?

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Your Honor, on April 4<sup>th</sup> 2010 in Salt Lake County Mr. Arriaga-Luna confronted a man who had been sleeping with his wife. An argument and subsequent fight took place at which time he pulled out a firearm and he shot the man[,] killing him.

THE COURT: Is that what happened, Mr. Arriaga-Luna?

THE DEFENDANT: I defended myself. It was not my intention. I never thought about hurting him.

THE COURT: Okay. Does that change the plea at all, counsel?

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Your Honor, we had—we had discussed the imperfect self-defense concept and that he did pull out a gun to get the man to confess to his sleeping with his wife. And that the man charged at him but was unarmed. So that is why he used a gun.

THE COURT: I will find that that is a sufficient factual basis.

THE DEFENDANT: He was drugged and drunk and I didn't know if he had a weapon, a knife and that's why I . . . .

THE COURT: Okay. . . . Mr. Arriaga-Luna, do you understand that by pulling the trigger you knew you could cause the death of the gentleman?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. I will accept that factual basis. Has anyone threatened you or forced you to enter this plea today?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Has anyone made any promises to you?

THE DEFENDANT: No, not [inaudible].

THE COURT: Thank you. . . . Mr. Arriaga-Luna, then to the charge of murder, a first-degree felony, how do you plead, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

(Add. B, R. 413–15.)

The district court accepted Mr. Arriaga's guilty plea and sentenced him.

(Add. B., R. 415–16.)

#### **4. Mr. Arriaga Petitions for Postconviction Relief**

After he was sentenced, Mr. Arriaga timely petitioned for postconviction relief. (R. 77, 1263.) In the petition, Mr. Arriaga asserted, among other things, that his guilty plea was not knowing and voluntary and that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to communicate with Mr. Arriaga in Spanish about his plea. (R. 1263–64.)<sup>3</sup> He supported his petition with an affidavit, where Mr. Arriaga described the meeting with trial counsel before the plea hearing and the language barrier between the two. (Add. C, R. 1176–80.)

The district court held an evidentiary hearing on the petition. (R. 443, 505.) The court received the testimony of the prosecutor; however, it only heard some testimony from trial counsel because it suspended the hearing to allow Mr. Arriaga to file an amended petition to add an allegation not relevant to this appeal. (R. 548–49.)

Before the district court set another evidentiary hearing, the State moved for summary judgment on Mr. Arriaga’s entire amended petition. (R. 552–53, 1320–21.) The district court granted the motion.

In granting the motion, the district court held that Mr. Arriaga’s plea was knowing and voluntary and that trial counsel was not ineffective. (Add. A, R. 1220.) It held that Mr. Arriaga had “not shown that he should not be bound by

---

<sup>3</sup> Mr. Arriaga originally filed a petition pro se. (R. 1.) The district court then appointed counsel, and the appointed counsel filed an amended petition. (R. 65.) The original counsel withdrew, and the district court appointed new counsel, who filed a second amended petition. (R. 445.) The State moved for summary judgment on the second amended petition. (R. 566.)

the representations he made during the change-of-plea colloquy” and had “not shown that he could not adequately understand his counsel’s advice about the guilty plea.” (Add. A, R. 1269.) The court also held, “Even if Mr. Arriaga misunderstood his counsel’s advice in relation to the guilty plea, any misunderstanding was cured by the Court’s plea colloquy and the Plea Statement,” so as a matter of law “Mr. Arriaga ha[d] not shown that his guilty plea was not knowing and voluntary.” (Add. A, R. 1270.)

#### **5. The Court of Appeals Affirms the Dismissal of the Postconviction Petition**

Mr. Arriaga appealed to the Utah Court of Appeals. He raised two issues. First, he argued that his guilty plea was not knowing or voluntary; twice during the plea colloquy he made self-defense claims that negated an essential element of the murder charge and provided objective evidence that he did not understand the plea. Second, he argued that his guilty plea was the result of ineffective assistance of counsel; trial counsel should have had an interpreter present at the meeting before the plea, because trial counsel and Mr. Arriaga had a significant language barrier. Because of that language barrier, Mr. Arriaga misunderstood the necessity of entering a plea.

In an opinion, two judges on the Court of Appeals held that Mr. Arriaga’s plea was knowing and voluntary because nothing in the record suggested that Mr. Arriaga lacked an understanding of the elements of murder. *Arriaga v. State*, 2018 UT App 160, ¶ 15. One judge—Judge Pohlman—concurred in the result.



Judge Pohlman expressed doubt about whether the district court adequately resolved Mr. Arriaga's self-defense assertions during the plea colloquy. *Id.* ¶ 25. But she ultimately concurred in the result because she concluded that Mr. Arriaga was not prejudiced. *Id.* ¶ 27. All three judges agreed that Mr. Arriaga did not show he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to have an interpreter during their meeting before the plea hearing. *Id.* ¶ 20.

Mr. Arriaga filed a petition for certiorari. This Court granted that petition on the question of "[w]hether the court of appeals erred in affirming the post-conviction court's denial of [Mr. Arriaga's] petition for post-conviction relief."

### **Summary of the Argument**

Mr. Arriaga challenged his guilty plea under the Postconviction Remedies Act, which allows a court to vacate a guilty plea if the plea was not knowing or voluntary or if the plea was a result of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeals erred when it affirmed the dismissal of Mr. Arriaga's postconviction petition.

Mr. Arriaga's guilty plea was not knowing or voluntary. Twice during the plea colloquy he asserted self-defense, which negated an essential element of the murder plea and provided objective evidence that he did not understand the plea. And looking beyond the record of the plea colloquy, Mr. Arriaga produced

evidence that the language barrier between him and trial counsel prevented him from understanding the plea.

Mr. Arriaga's guilty plea was also the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. English-speaking trial counsel spoke no Spanish, and Mr. Arriaga is a native Spanish speaker who spoke almost no English. Right before the plea colloquy, Mr. Arriaga met with trial counsel without an interpreter. After that meeting, Mr. Arriaga believed trial counsel told him that he had to plead guilty. He would not have entered his plea had he not believed trial counsel told him he had to.

Mr. Arriaga's plea was not knowing or voluntary, and his plea was a result of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeals erred when it affirmed the dismissal of Mr. Arriaga's postconviction petition on summary judgment.

### **Argument**

The Court of Appeals incorrectly affirmed the district court's dismissal of Mr. Arriaga's petition for postconviction relief. The Court of Appeals erred when it concluded that Mr. Arriaga's guilty plea was (1) knowing and voluntary and (2) not the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. Mr. Arriaga will take each argument in turn.

## **1. Mr. Arriaga's Plea Was Not Knowing or Voluntary**

Mr. Arriaga pleaded guilty to first-degree murder while vocally maintaining—in his native tongue—that he acted in self-defense. But a self-defense claim belies a first-degree murder plea. Neither the district court nor the attorneys adequately resolved the contradiction.

Mr. Arriaga's self-defense statements rendered his plea not knowing or voluntary, and thus subject to challenge under the Postconviction Remedies Act. Under that act, a defendant may challenge his conviction if it was obtained in violation of the United States Constitution. Utah Code § 78B-9-104(1)(a). A guilty plea is valid under the United States Constitution if “it is made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences.” *State v. Alexander*, 2012 UT 27, ¶ 16, 279 P.3d 371 (quotation omitted). Consequently, a court must determine that a defendant “actually understood the charges, the constitutional rights, and the likely consequences of the plea and voluntarily chose to plead guilty.” *State v. Candland*, 2013 UT 55, ¶ 16, 309 P.3d 230.

In determining whether a plea is knowing or voluntary, appellate courts examine not only the transcripts of the plea hearing but also the evidence about the circumstances surrounding the plea. *Id.* Both the plea hearing transcript and the evidence of the circumstances surrounding the plea—viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Arriaga—show that his plea was not knowing or voluntary. During the plea colloquy, Mr. Arriaga made self-defense statements that negated

his plea to first-degree murder. And the circumstances surrounding the plea show that Mr. Arriaga did not understand his plea, because trial counsel discussed the plea with him in English when Mr. Arriaga could only speak Spanish. The Court of Appeals' conclusion, then, that Mr. Arriaga's plea was knowing and voluntary was simply incorrect.

### **1.1 Mr. Arriaga's Self-Defense Statements Negated an Essential Element of His Murder Plea**

Mr. Arriaga twice asserted self-defense during the plea colloquy. Those statements show that his murder plea was not knowing or voluntary.

A plea is not knowing or voluntary when the defendant does not understand the "essential elements of the crime to which he pled guilty." *Alexander*, 2012 UT 27, ¶ 30 (quotation omitted). "A necessary element of a murder conviction is the absence of affirmative defenses." *State v. Low*, 2008 UT 58, ¶ 45, 192 P.3d 867. An affirmative defense to murder is imperfect self-defense. Utah Code § 76-5-203(4)(a), (c)(i). Imperfect self-defense reduces a murder conviction to manslaughter—a second-degree felony that does not carry a potential life sentence. Utah Code §§ 76-5-203(c)(i) (affirmative defense), 76-5-205(3) (manslaughter is a second-degree felony), 76-3-203(2) (sentencing parameters for felonies).

Mr. Arriaga made two statements during the plea colloquy evidencing that he did not understand the essential elements of murder.

When the district court asked for a factual basis, trial counsel responded that Mr. Arriaga and Mr. Herrera got into a fight, and Mr. Arriaga pulled out a gun and shot Mr. Herrera. (Add. B, R. 413.) Mr. Arriaga then stated, “I defended myself. It was not my intention. I never thought about hurting him.” (*Id.*) The district court then asked if Mr. Arriaga’s statement changed the plea, and trial counsel stated that he had discussed the “imperfect self-defense concept.” (*Id.*) Immediately after trial counsel finished talking, the district court noted, “I will find that that is a sufficient factual basis.” (*Id.*) Mr. Arriaga again interjected, “He was drugged and drunk and I didn’t know if he had a weapon, a knife and that’s why I . . . .” (*Id.*) The district court then asked Mr. Arriaga if he understood that by pulling the trigger he could kill Mr. Herrera, and Mr. Arriaga said yes. (Add. B, R. 414.) Mr. Arriaga then pleaded guilty. (Add. B, R. 415.)

In circumstances where a defendant pleads guilty but makes statements during a plea colloquy evidencing either that he does not understand the charged crime or that negate an element of the charged crime, such pleas are not knowing or voluntary. *See United States v. Culbertson*, 670 F.3d 183, 190 (2d Cir. 2012) (vacating guilty plea when the defendant persistently disavowed responsibility for a certain amount of drugs, and the amount of drugs was an essential element of the crime); *United States v. Suarez*, 155 F.3d 521, 525 (5th Cir. 1998) (holding that the defendant did not plead guilty to possession with intent to distribute when the defendant stated, “I am *only* guilty of possession”); *State v. Thurman*, 911 P.2d 371, 375 (Utah 1996) (holding that even though defendant acknowledged

at one point he had the appropriate mental state, he made repeated comments that negated his admission and consequently did not admit to the requisite mental state).

For example, in *United States v. Fernandez*, the Seventh Circuit held that a native of Mexico who had only a fifth-grade education and a very limited understanding of English (the exact same situation Mr. Arriaga is in) did not understand the charges or the acts to which he was pleading guilty. 205 F.3d 1020, 1026–27 (7th Cir. 2000). When the district court asked the defendant if he had done the things in the factual proffer, the defendant responded, “Not all the acts, partially”; when the district court asked what acts he did not commit, the defendant responded, “Yes, your Honor, I did.” *Id.* at 1026. The district court did not clear up the defendant’s confusion and accepted the defendant’s guilty plea. *Id.* The Seventh Circuit vacated the plea. *Id.* at 1030.

Similarly, in *People v. Ramirez*, the court reasoned that a defendant who pleaded guilty to burglary made statements during the colloquy that negated the plea. 839 N.Y.S.2d 327, 329–30 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2007). Specifically, the “defendant insisted during the plea colloquy, albeit in a confused and rambling manner, that he had permission to enter the residence through an open door and retrieve the items that he took. These statements explaining defendant’s presence in the house effectively negated his admission to the elements of knowingly entering unlawfully and intent to commit a crime therein at the time of entry.” *Id.* at 329. Because the district court did not conduct a sufficient inquiry into the defendant’s

mental culpability after making his statements, “there is no indication in the record that defendant’s misapprehension of the charges was corrected or that the plea was voluntary and rational.” *Id.* at 330.

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