2018

## **Benjamin Arriaga, Petitioner, v. State of Utah, Respondent : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Supreme Court

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Arriaga challenges the court of appeals’ decision affirming the district court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of the State and dismissing his post-conviction petition.

**Point I.** Arriaga initially alleged—without particularity—that his guilty plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered. But after the State filed its summary judgment motion, Arriaga claimed in his opposition memorandum that his plea was invalid because he was never informed that the absence of imperfect self-defense is an essential element of murder. But it is well-established that a party may not add new claims in a memorandum opposing summary judgment. Because Arriaga waited until his opposition to summary judgment to raise this specific invalid guilty plea argument, he never properly presented it to the district court for consideration. And the district court neither considered nor ruled on that version of Arriaga’s invalid

guilty plea claim. It was therefore never properly preserved for appellate review.

**Point II.** In any event, Arriaga's guilty plea was knowing and voluntary. The record of the change-of-plea hearing shows that all of the constitutional prerequisites for a knowing and voluntary plea were satisfied. And Arriaga has not affirmatively shown that his plea was unknowing or involuntary. He argues that because he stated he defended himself, but no one explained to him the implications of an imperfect self-defense claim, that he did not have a meaningful understanding of the murder charge. But the absence of imperfect self-defense is not an element of murder at the plea-taking stage.

In addition, trial counsel assured the trial court that he discussed imperfect self-defense with Arriaga, and Arriaga never objected to counsel's assurance. The presumption is that counsel provided Arriaga with an adequate explanation of imperfect self-defense. The trial court was entitled to rely on counsel's assurance. Arriaga also claims that his plea is invalid because he did not read the plea affidavit and did not understand what his attorney told him. But these allegations are contradicted by Arriaga's acknowledgements at the change-of-plea hearing. Arriaga is bound by those acknowledgements.



**Point III.** Arriaga argues that his attorney was ineffective for not having a Spanish-language interpreter present during their private conversations. He alleges that he therefore misunderstood counsel's advice about the guilty plea. But the record contradicts Arriaga's claim. When the trial court asked him through an interpreter if he understood everything trial counsel talked to him about, Arriaga said he did. Arriaga is bound by his statement.

In any event, counsel met with Arriaga in private on multiple occasions and Arriaga never complained that he was unable to understand what counsel said. He told the trial court that he understood everything counsel told him. The strong presumption is that counsel made a reasonable decision that Arriaga's command of the English language was sufficient for him to adequately comprehend the substance of their discussions without the aid of an interpreter.

And even if counsel was deficient in this respect, Arriaga cannot show prejudice. First, on the facts of his case, Arriaga has not shown that, but for counsel's alleged deficiency, it would have been rational for him to insist on going to trial instead of pleading guilty. Second, he alleges that he believed counsel told him that he had already been found guilty, that if he won at trial, he would still go to prison, and that he had no choice but to plead guilty. But

all of these alleged misunderstandings were cured at the change-of-plea hearing. Yet, Arriaga still pleaded guilty. In other words, any deficiency on trial counsel's part did not affect Arriaga's decision to plead guilty.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Arriaga's claim that his self-defense statements negated an element of his guilty plea to murder is unpreserved because it was raised for the first time in his opposition to the State's summary judgment motion and was never considered by the district court.**

In "order to preserve an issue for appeal the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." *Brookside Mobile Home Park, Ltd. v. Peebles*, 2002 UT 48, ¶14, 48 P.3d 968. "Additionally, a party that makes an objection based on one ground does not preserve any alternative grounds for objection for appeal." *Oseguera v. State*, 2014 UT 31, ¶10, 332 P.3d 963.

In his second amended petition, Arriaga never raised the claim that his plea was invalid because his self-defense statements negated an essential element of the murder charge or that no one explained to him the implications of a defense of imperfect self-defense at trial. R446-50, 1108-12; *see also* Pet's Brief at 13-18. Rather, he argued that his plea was not knowing and voluntary because he did not understand that he was innocent until proven

guilty, “that he did not have to plead guilty,” and that “winning at trial would mean no prison time.” R448. The closest he came to alleging the invalid guilty plea claim he now raises on appeal was when he stated that his self-defense claim shows he did not agree that he committed murder. R448. But Arriaga never predicated his claim on the theory that no one ensured that he understood that, as an element of the crime of murder, the State would have to disprove the existence of imperfect self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt, or that a successful imperfect self-defense claim at trial would defeat the murder charge and result in a manslaughter conviction.

Arriaga first raised this theory in his opposition to the State’s summary judgment motion. R1108-12. But it is well-settled that a “plaintiff cannot amend the complaint by raising novel claims or theories for recovery in a memorandum in opposition to a motion to dismiss or for summary judgment because such amendment fails to satisfy Utah’s pleading requirements.” *Holmes Dev., LLC v. Cook*, 2002 UT 38, ¶31, 48 P.3d 895; *see also Hudgens v. Prosper, Inc.*, 2010 UT 68, ¶20 n.19, 243 P.3d 1275 (same). In other words, a specific claim for relief raised for the first time in an opposition memorandum is procedurally improper and, by definition, is an argument not raised in a manner that allows a court to consider it. Appellate courts will decline to address such an issue “as it was never properly raised below.” *Id.*

Because Arriaga waited until his opposition to summary judgment to raise his alternative invalid guilty plea argument, he never properly presented it to the district court for consideration. And, in fact, the district court neither considered nor ruled on it. R1262-70. The court only ruled on the invalid guilty plea claim Arriaga pleaded in his second amended petition. R1269-70. Thus, Arriaga never properly preserved his invalid guilty plea claim predicated on the trial court's alleged failure to ensure that he understood the implications of his self-defense claim or that the absence of imperfect self-defense was an element of the murder charge. *See Gowe v. Intermountain Healthcare, Inc.*, 2015 UT App 105, ¶9 n.2, 356 P.3d 683 ("Presentation of one argument or theory to the district court does not preserve for appeal any alternative arguments, even regarding the same issue.").

## II.

**The court of appeals correctly affirmed the district court's grant of summary judgment on Arriaga's invalid guilty plea claim because all the constitutional prerequisites for a knowing and voluntary plea were met and Arriaga has not shown otherwise.**

In any event, the court of appeals correctly determined that Arriaga failed to show that his guilty plea was invalid. To show that his plea was invalid, Arriaga must establish that it was entered in violation of either the

state or federal constitutions. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-104(1)(a); *see also* *Salazar v. Warden, Utah State Prison*, 852 P.2d 988, 991 n.6 (Utah 1993) (on “collateral attack of a conviction, the petitioner must show a constitutional violation to obtain relief”). That is, he must demonstrate that his guilty plea was not entered knowingly and voluntarily. “A plea is not knowing and voluntary when the defendant ‘does not understand the nature of the constitutional protections that he is waiving, or because he has such an incomplete understanding of the charge that his plea cannot stand as an intelligent admission of guilt.’” *State v. Alexander*, 2012 UT 27, ¶29, 279 P.3d 371 (quoting *Henderson v. Morgan*, 426 U.S. 637, 645 n.13 (1976)).

And to obtain post-conviction relief, Arriaga must also show prejudice. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-104(2) (“The court may not grant relief from a conviction or sentence unless the petitioner establishes that there would be a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome in light of the facts proved in the post-conviction proceeding, viewed with the evidence and facts introduced at trial or during sentencing.”). To do so, Arriaga “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial and that such a decision would have been rational under the circumstances.” *Ramirez-Gil v. State*, 2014 UT App 122, ¶8, 327 P.3d 1228 (citations and internal quotation

marks omitted); *see also Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 372 (2010); *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

**A. All the constitutional prerequisites for a valid guilty plea were satisfied.**

A constitutionally valid guilty plea is “one that has a factual basis for the plea and ensures that the defendant understands and waives his constitutional right against self-incrimination, the right to a jury trial, and the right to confront witnesses.” *Nicholls v. State*, 2009 UT 12, ¶20, 203 P.3d 976; *see also McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 466 (1969) (“A defendant who enters ... a [guilty] plea simultaneously waives several constitutional rights, including his privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, his right to trial by jury, and his right to confront his accusers.”). “To have a complete understanding of the charge ... a defendant must possess ‘an understanding of the law in relation to the facts.’” *Alexander*, 2012 UT 27 at ¶29 (citations omitted); *see also Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 243 n.5 (1969) (“[B]ecause a guilty plea is an admission of all the elements of a formal criminal charge, it cannot be truly voluntary unless the defendant possesses an understanding of the law in relation to the facts.”). “In determining whether a defendant understands the law in relation to the facts, courts review whether the defendant understood the ‘critical’ or ‘essential’ elements of the crime to which he pled guilty.” *Id.* at ¶30.

Here, all the constitutional prerequisites for a valid guilty plea were met. Among others, Arriaga's rights against self-incrimination, to a speedy and public trial before an impartial jury, and to confront witness were explained to him in the plea affidavit. R81-84. Arriaga acknowledged that he understood these rights and that he would be waiving them by pleading guilty. R84. In addition, the trial court explained these rights to Arriaga and informed him that he would be giving them up if he pleaded guilty. R411. Arriaga acknowledged that he understood this. R411.

Arriaga also had an understanding of the law in relation to the facts. First, the plea affidavit explained—and Arriaga acknowledged that he understood—that the elements of murder were that he intentionally or knowingly caused the death of another. R81, 86. Although Arriaga stated that he defended himself and did not intend to harm Herrera, he agreed that he knew that pulling the trigger of the gun would cause Herrera's death. R413-14. He therefore acknowledged that he knowingly killed Herrera.

Second, a factual basis for the plea was set forth in the plea affidavit. R81. In addition, trial counsel explained at the change-of-plea hearing that on April 4, 2010, Arriaga confronted Herrera, who had been sleeping with Arriaga's wife, that an argument and fight ensued, and that Arriaga pulled out a gun and shot Herrera, killing him. R413. The plea affidavit's and the

trial court's explanations of the elements of the crime and the factual basis counsel provided gave Arriaga an understanding of the law in relation to the facts by informing him that he was guilty of murder because (1) he knowingly (2) caused the death of another. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203(2)(a) ("Criminal homicide constitutes murder if ... the actor intentionally or knowingly causes the death of another."). Accordingly, all the requirements for a constitutionally valid guilty plea were met in Arriaga's case.

**B. The court of appeals correctly determined that Arriaga failed to show that his guilty plea was unknowing or involuntary.**

Arriaga nevertheless argues that his guilty plea was not valid. *See* Pet's Brief at 12-33. As explained, for a guilty plea to be knowing and voluntary, a defendant must have an adequate understanding of the essential elements of the crime he is pleading guilty to. *See Alexander*, 2012 UT 27, ¶30. Arriaga argues that, because he asserted that he defended himself, the State's burden to disprove his self-defense claim became an essential element of the murder charge. *See* Pet's Brief at 13, 16-18. But, he contends, no one ever informed him that the absence of imperfect self-defense was an element of the murder charge, that the State would have to disprove imperfect self-defense if the case went to trial, or that a successful imperfect self-defense claim would defeat the murder charge at trial and result in a manslaughter conviction. *Id.* This failure, Arriaga argues, shows that he did not have an adequate



understanding of the essential elements of the murder charge. *Id.* at 13, 18. He therefore contends that his guilty plea was not knowing and voluntary. *Id.* at 18. Arriaga is mistaken.

First, Arriaga’s central premise is incorrect. The elements of murder – which Arriaga acknowledged he understood – are that he intentionally or knowingly caused the death of another. R81, 414; *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203(2)(a) (“Criminal homicide constitutes murder if ... the actor intentionally or knowingly causes the death of another.”). “Absence of self-defense is not an element of a homicide offense. As a matter of statutory construction, § 76-5-201 does not make absence of self-defense a *prima facie* element of a homicide crime. Rather, self-defense is a *justification* for a killing and a ‘defense to prosecution.’” *State v. Knoll*, 712 P.2d 211, 214 (Utah 1985) (citing Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-2-401 and -402) (emphasis in original); *but see State v. Low*, 2008 UT 58, ¶45, 192 P.3d 867 (in trial context a “necessary element of a murder conviction is the absence of affirmative defenses”). Thus, merely because the trial court did not ask Arriaga “if he understood the implications of his self-defense assertions,” Pet’s Brief at 17, does not mean that he did not have an adequate understanding of the elements of the murder charge. And by specifically admitting that when he pulled the trigger on the gun he knew he would cause Herrera’s death, Arriaga did understand

the elements of the murder charge. R414.

Second, even assuming that the absence of self-defense is an element of the murder charge, Arriaga's guilty plea was still knowing and voluntary. When Arriaga asserted, "I defended myself. It was not my intention. I never thought about hurting him," counsel immediately assured the trial court—without objection from Arriaga—that he had discussed imperfect self-defense with him. R413. The presumption is that counsel provided an adequate explanation of imperfect self-defense, including that the State bore the burden of proving the absence of self-defense at a trial, and that if an imperfect self-defense claim were successfully asserted, a murder conviction would be reduced to a manslaughter conviction. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (stating a "court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance."); *see also Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458, 468 (1938) ("When collaterally attacked, the judgment of a court carries with it a presumption of regularity."), overruled on other grounds by *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477 (1981)); *Lucero v. Kennard*, 2005 UT 79, ¶24, 125 P.3d 917 ("In a proceeding where a defendant seeks to collaterally attack a court's judgment, we presume the regularity of the proceedings below."); *Price v. Turner*, 502 P.2d 121, 122 (Utah 1972) ("After one has been convicted of [a] crime the

presumption of innocence and other protections afforded an accused no longer obtain. The presumptions then are in favor of the propriety of the proceedings....”).

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